
PART V


THE AFTERMATH:


MILITARY CONSTRUCTION COMPLETED

Transfer of Military Projects

In late 1942, the Department of the Army reassigned responsibilities for many of its internal construction activities.  Whereas military construction had so far been the responsibility of Corps of Engineers divisions and districts, regardless of location, the Army now intended to redistribute responsibility to parallel its regular service command organization.  Thus Corps districts which were located in the same cities as regular service commands retained their military construction responsibilities, but others were phased out of their construction roles.  As Vicksburg was not a service command headquarters, the Vicksburg District saw its construction activities come to an end.  Effective November 30, 1942, the Army transferred all military projects in the Vicksburg District either to the Mobile or Little Rock district.  

Actually, most military facilities in the district had been completed or were nearing completion, and no new major projects had been assigned.  Exceptions were the enemy internment camp at Clinton, Mississippi, and the general hospital at Jackson, which the Vicksburg engineers were just beginning at the time of the transfer.  These projects, however, paled in importance when compared to the air base, ordnance, and army camp facilities already in use.  The camp and hospital also posed no significant technical or construction difficulties, in contrast to the previous projects.

In the demobilization following the transfer, the Vicksburg District returned to its more traditional functions of flood control and navigation improvement.  These had for the most part continued on a maintenance basis during the rush of the construction period.  Most Army officers and area engineers on military projects, along with records and assets, transferred out of the district's jurisdiction to Mobile or Little Rock, so that residual construction activities continued without interruption.

Vicksburg Engineers Called to Combat
A number of district personnel went on to higher callings.  Sturgis immediately reported to the Southwest Pacific theater to serve as chief engineer of the Sixth Army under MacArthur.  The former district engineer took with him William Harrison, former head of the Airports, Cantonments, and Depots Section of the district's Military Construction Division, and Russell C. Baker, chief of the district's Executive Division, to help form the nucleus of his Pacific staff. 

Raymond Sauer, Sturgis' Executive Assistant for Military Projects, succeeded the latter as district engineer, a post he held until 1946.  George Morris, Chief of the Military Construction Division, Construction Division, served with distinction under Gen. George Patton in the European Theater of Operations.

Under Sturgis, the Sixth Army Engineers served as models of distinction, being in charge of all air base, port, and other Army construction in twenty-two amphibious operations.  From 1943-45 they participated in the New Guinea, New Britain and Admiralty campaigns, the invasion of Leyte, the conquest of Luzon, and the occupation of Japan.  Of particular importance among Sturgis' duties was airfield construction, a skill he, Harrison, and Baker had honed in their years at Vicksburg.  Laying airstrips under fire in the Philippines may well have seemed a relief after dealing with the drainage nightmares, recalcitrant base commanders, inspectors general, meddling U. S. Senators, conniving contractors, material shortages, labor disputes, and public relations traumas of Meridian, Greenville, Minden, and Rohwer.

Sturgis: Chief of Engineers
In February 1946, Sturgis returned to the United States to become Air Engineer of the U.S. Air Force.  After a subsequent stint as Division Engineer of the Missouri Valley Division, in 1951, he served as Commanding General of the Sixth Armored Division at Fort Leonard Wood, Missouri.  In 1952, he became commanding general of the Communications Zone, supporting the U.S. Army in Europe.

The culmination of the former Vicksburg DE's career was his appointment, in early 1953, to the position of Chief of Engineers, a post he held for the next four years.  Sturgis remains the only Vicksburg District Engineer to have achieved the highest office within the Corps.

Harrison, Morris, and Baker

Return to the District

After tours of duty in various theaters of operation, many district personnel returned to posts in Vicksburg.  The district then benefitted from expertise developed during the construction years in the district, further sharpened by combat experience.  Harrison, Morris, and Baker in particular--all Sturgis disciples and war veterans--returned to positions of prominence.  Each served as chief of one of the district's three field divisions:  Harrison as Chief, Operations Division; Morris as Chief, Engineering Division; and Baker as Chief, Construction Division.

The District Today:

Remnants of Military Construction

It is difficult today to picture the district as the beehive of activity that it was during the early years of World War II.  Though some few facilities built by the Vicksburg engineers have retained at least part of their vitality, others have all but disappeared.  Even those which are active today tend to have lost sight of their origins.

Barksdale Air Force Base continues to serve as a major post, but its beginnings predate World War II.  The Meridian, Jackson, Greenville, Greenwood, and Monroe Air Corps facilities are now municipal airports, replete with Air National Guard units.  However, relatively few original structures remain and there is little--if any--awareness of their origins and wartime roles among current personnel.  Camp McCain today functions as an important Army National Guard training site, but with only one-tenth of its original area and capacity.  The Grenada Air Support Command Base is no longer active.

Sticking perhaps most closely to its original intent is the Louisiana Ordnance Plant at Minden, which remains a major ammunition plant for the Army.  The Ozark Ordnance Works is now El Dorado Chemical Corporation, also using numerous original buildings and equipment.  Part of the Mississippi Ordnance Plant at Flora, including many "igloo" munitions bins, is used to store records for private businesses.

Little evidence remains of the internment and relocation centers.  The Ruston, Louisiana, prisoner of war camp is now the site of a state mental institution.  Numerous original buildings were used there through the 1960s, and three former barracks are still used as storage facilities.  At Monticello, Arkansas, the internment grounds are now administered by the Forestry Department of the University of Arkansas at Monticello.  Though grown dense with pines, pilings for barracks, a water tower, the hospital smokestack, and a tiny Italian chapel, replete with a marble altarpiece, are discernible.

Rohwer, Arkansas, once the home of 3,500 Japanese-American citizens, now lies at the center of a huge cotton plantation.  Poignantly, on the site of the former camp headquarters a marble monument stands to the Japanese-American soldiers recruited from the camp who served with the U.S. Army in Europe, many killed with the famous 66th Battalion in Italy and France.  That and a small cemetery are all that remain.

Perhaps less remains of the Como, Mississippi, internment camp than any facility in the district.  Overgrown with brush and transversed by a few rough dirt roads, nothing of its former activity is readily visible. 

 The Vicksburg Victory
Vicksburg was only one of many Corps of Engineers districts involved in military construction in the United States during World War II.  A very small percentage of the men and women who contributed to the Allied triumph passed through its facilities.  Yet its importance was great.  The elevation of its principals‑‑​Sturgis, Harrison, Baker, Morris, and others‑‑to combat construction responsibilities of the highest order in both major theaters of the war accentuated the district's record of success.  Vicksburg personnel served as models for resolving problems of engineering, organization, contracting, material shortages, and political pressure.  Sturgis insisted that no other Corps district surpassed Vicksburg's reputation for finishing jobs on time and within budget.

By war's end in 1945 literally tens of thousands of men and women trained in the Vicksburg District had seen action in theaters of operations or had served in vital military support capacities in the United States.  From Bataan to Bastogne, from Mindanao to Monte Cassino, and from Vicksburg to the Vosges were engineers, infantrymen, artillerymen, flyers, sappers, liaison personnel, communications experts, ordnance specialists, and a multitude of other personnel involved in practically every endeavor the military required.  Their contributions to the Allied triumph over the Axis powers and Japan are incalculable. 

This was the Vicksburg Victory.
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